IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

SEP 13 1984

CLERKA SUPREME COURT // ; / Y L ٨ Rv Chief Deputy

CASE NO. 65,318

ROBERT IRA PEEDE,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 1012 South Ridgewood Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014-6183 Phone: (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

MR. ROBERT IRA PEEDE (hereafter Appellant) was charged by Indictment with First Degree Murder (R 1008).^{1/} The Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Appellant pursuant to a finding of indigency (R 1012), and the matter proceeded to a jury trial in the Circuit Court for Orange County, Florida, the Honorable Judge Michael F. Cycmanick presiding.

The pre-trial motions included a Motion to Continue and a Motion to Withdraw filed on August 22, 1983 by the Office of the Public Defender (R 1038-1040). The Motion to Withdraw averred, among other things, that Appellant did not want the matter continued and that he was desirous of representing himself (R 1039). In this regard, Appellant filed on October 21, 1983 a

^{1/(}R) Refers to the Record on Appeal of the instant cause, Supreme Court Case No. 65,318.

Pro Se Motion [sic] For Fast and Speedy Trial, which motion asserted that any continuance was against his wishes (R 1061, 1062). The Motion was struck at the instance of the State (R 1083-1084, 1086).

A psychiatric examination of Appellant was conducted (R 1054), and the Court denied Appellant's Alternative Motion to Vacate Death Penalty (R 1108-1109, 1192), the Motion for Statement of Aggravating Circumstances (R 1110-1113, 1191), the Motion to Declare Florida Statute Section 921.141 Unconstitutional (R 1118-1122, 1194) and the Motion to Preclude Challenge for Cause (R 1116-1117, 1193). Similarly the Court denied Appellant's Motion for Evidentiary Hearing concerning the factors going to the constitutionality <u>vel non</u> of Section 921.141 Fla.Stat. (R 1123-1124, 1190).

The State filed a Notice of Intent to Use Similar Fact Evidence concerning testimony of an alleged common scheme or plan to murder Darla Peede [the victim], Geraldine Peede [Appellant's ex-wife] and Calvin Wagner (R 1196), which testimony was sought to be excluded in Appellant's Motion In Limine No. 1 (R 1102).

During jury selection, a previously filed Motion to Suppress Confessions was withdrawn, and the Court indicated that the motion would have been denied in any event based upon Appellant's representations to the Court (R 323-327). During voir dire of the prospective jurors, Appellant became aware that his attorneys were not presenting to the jury the issue of his insanity (R 212-216). Defense counsel affirmed that Appellant had requested that an insanity defense be asserted, but counsel declined (R 213).

- 2 -

During the trial, over hearsay objection, the victim's daughter testified concerning what her mother had said prior to picking the defendant up at the airport (R 598-600). Appellant objected to the defense attorney's cross-examination of certain (R 605-606, 632-633). In this regard, he was escorted witnesses from the courtroom without warning for objecting to the cross-examination of his ex-wife by stating, "Your Honor, excuse Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I apologize. I apologize me. for what I'm saying or interrupting the Court. I don't want the witness cross-examined. Going against my, what I need or what I want. And the people are not representing, they're not doing anything I want them to do. They're going against everything that I want done. I don't want this woman cross-examined." (R 632-633). Appellant was returned to the courtroom after crossexamination of his ex-wife (R 638). However, when the Court thereafter adjourned for lunch, Appellant sought to be excused from the proceedings for the rest of the afternoon (R 662-663). After the lunch recess the trial Judge, accompanied by the attorneys and court reporter, visited Appellant in jail and, upon request, excused the defendant from further attending the trial (R 663-673).

At the conclusion of the State's case defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal as to the charge of first degree murder, asserting that there had been insufficient proof of premeditation or of an underlying felony to justify jury consideration of the charge, which motion was denied (R 842-846).

- 3 -

The defense rested without presenting any testimony (R 858), and following objection-free closing arguments (R 859-892), the jury was instructed upon the law of the case without objection (R 846-857, 892-910). Over objection, a special verdict form was provided the jury for determination of whether a weapon was used in the commission of the offense (R 857).

The jury, less alternates, retired for deliberation at 4:15 o'clock p.m. and returned at 5:30 o'clock p.m. with a verdict of guilty of first degree murder (R 912-914, 1235). The jury also found that Appellant had used a weapon in the commission of the offense (R 912, 1234).

The sentencing phase of trial, with Appellant present, was conducted on March 5, 1984. The State presented the testimony of two person and introduced into evidence certified copies of a judgment and sentence indicating that Appellant was previously convicted of the crime of second degree murder and assault with a deadly weapon in California (R 927-947). Appellant presented the testimony of a psychiatrist and introduced into evidence eleven letters of Appellant's acquaintances (R 948-958).

Following objection-free arguments (R 959-968), the jury was instructed as to three aggravating circumstances, to wit: 1) previous conviction of a felony; 2) murder committed while engaged in a kidnapping, and; 3) murder committed in cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R 968-971). Appellant objected to instructing upon both 2) and 3) above, arguing that said circumstances constituted impermissible doubling of the same conduct (R 923). The jury was only instructed upon two

- 4 -

mitigating circumstances, to wit: 1) crime was committed while Appellant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and; 2) any other aspect of Appellant's character or record, and any other circumstances of the offense (R 970, 1248-1250)

Following 40 minutes of deliberation the jury by an 11-1 margin recommended the imposition of death (R 974-976, 1247). Judge Cycmanick proceeded at that time to sentence Appellant to death (R 978, 1251-1252). The judge thereafter entered written findings of fact to support the death sentence, specifically finding that Appellant had been previously convicted of committing two felony crimes involving the use of force or threat to some other person, that the instant murder had been committed while Appellant was committing a kidnapping, and further that the murder had been committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R 1263-1264). The Court also found as a mitigating circumstance that Appellant was under the influence of extreme emotional or mental disturbance, but the court attributed little weight to this circumstance, stating that "...it is outweighed by the single aggravating circumstance, standing alone, of the Defendant's prior crime of Murder in the Second Degree and Assault with a Deadly Weapon." (R 1265).

A Motion for New Trial was timely filed, which motion was denied (R 1253-1254, 1259). The Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Appellant for the purpose of an appeal (R 1246), and a timely notice of appeal was filed April 2, 1984 (R 1417). This brief follows.

- 5 -

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant left Hillsboro, North Carolina around 5:30 o'clock p.m. on March 30, 1983 [a Wednesday] on his motorcycle enroute to Miami, Florida (R 715). He arrived in Jacksonville, Florida early the next [Thursday] morning. It was raining, and after Appellant ate breakfast he endeavored to sell his motorcycle (R 716). Though at first unsuccessful, he eventually sold it for \$500.00 to a motorcycle shop near Ormond Beach, Florida (R 716). He took a cab from there to the airport and flew on to Miami, arriving in the mid-afternoon (R 716).

Appellant telephoned his wife [Darla Peede, hereafter Darla] several times before finally reaching her at her daughter's house around 5:15 p.m. (R 716), and Darla agreed to come pick him up at the airport (R 716). She left in her car, taking nothing along but her purse (R 594-597). However, before leaving she gave her daughter some telephone numbers to call if she failed to return by midnight (R 599, 610-611).

Darla picked Appellant up at the airport and stated that she had planned on going back to her apartment that day, and possibly to the beach the next day (R 716-717). Appellant instructed that they head north on I-95 but, after gassing up Darla's car, they mistakenly got on the turnpike instead (R 717). As they were leaving the Miami area, Appellant, using a pocket-knife, inflicted a superficial cut in Darla's side when the song "Swinging" came on the radio (R 562, 722, 744-746).

In this regard, Appellant was obsessed with the belief that Darla and his ex-wife [Geraldine] had mutually advertised

- 6 -

for sexual partners in a nationally publicized, pictoral "Swinger" magazine viewed by Appellant when he was in prison in California (R 626-631, 721). Geraldine was afraid of Appellant because of his obsession (R 624-626, 722).

After leaving Miami, Appellant and Darla picked up a female hitchhiker named Joanne (R 717, 829-830). Shortly thereafter the hitchhiker drove the car while Appellant and Darla had intercourse in the back (R 730). In this regard, Darla had two "hickies" on her right breast (R 559), and a vaginal examination disclosed evidence of recent sexual intercourse (R 572-573). The hitchhiker was dropped off in Orlando, Florida, and Appellant, driving Darla's car, exited on either the Princeton or Ivanhoe ramp of I-4 in Orlando to gas up and get something to drink (R 717-718, 830). He got Darla some water in a Coke can because she disliked caffeine (R 718) and they then proceeded east on I-4 toward Daytona Beach (R 718).

The conversation turned to the subject of Geraldine, Calvin Wagner and the advertisements (R 718, 723-725, 832).

"[T]he next thing he knew" he had stopped the car, jumped into the back and stabbed Darla in the throat (R 718, 730-731), thereby cutting her superior venacavae, resulting in her bleeding to death in between five and fifteen minutes (R 559-560, 564).

Appellant recalled seeing a hospital sign back where he had gassed up, but was unable to cross over the interstate prior to hearing Darla die (R 732-733, 833). He drove on to Hillsboro, North Carolina in Darla's car, leaving her body in a wooded area near Woodbine, Georgia (R 517-518, 524-527, 724).

- 7 -

Appellant was arrested around 7:15 p.m. on April 1, 1983 [Friday] by police officers of the Hillsboro Police Department pursuant to trespass and threat warrants (R 638-641, 651-655). The police observed Darla's automobile with bloodstained interior in Appellant's yard (R 655-656), and the next day, [Saturday] April 2, 1983, the body was discovered in Woodbine, Georgia by a hunter (R 516-517, 524-527).

Following his arrest, Appellant admitted killing Darla in Orlando (R 715-730, 742, 830-832), and was described by various police agencies as being polite and cooperative (R 661, 700). Mr. Peede stated that he never intended to kill Darla (R 730-731, 836).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

REVERSIBLE ERROR OCCURRED WHERE A DEFENDANT, UPON REQUEST, WAS EXCUSED BY THE TRIAL JUDGE FROM ATTENDING CRITICAL STAGES OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL AND WAS SUBSEQUENTLY SENTENCED TO DEATH, IN THAT HIS ABSENCE DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW REQUIRED BY THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 9 AND 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

This Court has previously alluded to the above error^{2/}, but until now the matter has avoided resolution. Appellant now respectfully calls upon this Court to determine whether a defendant in a capital trial can, with the trial court's permission, waive his presence at trial.

"Waivers of constitutional rights not only must be voluntary but must be knowing, intelligent acts done with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences." <u>Brady v. United States</u>, 397 U.S. 742, 748, 25 L.Ed.2d 747, 756, 90 S.Ct. 1463 (1970).

> The question of a waiver of a federally guaranteed constitutional right is, of course, a federal question controlled by federal law. There is a presumption against the waiver of constitutional rights (citations omitted), and for a waiver to be effective it must be clearly established that there was "an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege." (citation omitted).

²⁷ cf., Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372, 1376 (Fla. 1983); Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982); Mulvey v. State, 41 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1949) compare Lowman v. State, 80 Fla. 18, 85 So. 166 (1920) to Holton v. State, 2 Fla. 476.

<u>Brookhart v. Janis</u>, 384 U.S. 1, 4, 16 L.Ed.2d 314, 317, 86 S.Ct. 1245 (1966).

Involved <u>sub judice</u> is not only the waiver of the fundamental rights to be present, to confront witnesses, and to present evidence in one's behalf, but the waiver of such rights in the context of a capital trial resulting in the imposition of the death penalty. It is respectfully suggested that a heightened scrutiny of an alleged waiver of any constitutional right is applied in death cases. As stated by the United States Supreme Court,

> ..., five Members of the Court have now expressly recognized that death is a different kind of punishment from any other which may be imposed in this country. (citations omitted). From the point of view of the defendant, it is different in both its severity and its finality. From the point of view of society, the action of the sovereign in taking the life of one of its citizens differs dramatically from any other legitimate state action. It is of vital importance to the defendant and to the community that any decision to impose the death sentence be, and appear to be, based on reason rather than caprice or emotion.

<u>Gardner v. Florida</u>, 430 U.S. 349, 357, 51 L.Ed.2d 393, 401, 97 S.Ct. 1197 (1977).

An example of the application of this heightened scrutiny of purported waivers is found in <u>Harris v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1983) wherein this Court addressed whether and how a defendant in a capital trial could waive jury instructions on necessarily lesser-included offenses. This Court held that a defendant may waive his right to such instructions "But, for an effective waiver, there must be more than just a request from counsel that these instructions not be given. We conclude that there must be an express waiver of the right to these instructions by the defendant, and the record must reflect that it was knowingly and intelligently made." <u>id</u>. at 797 (emphasis supplied).

In the instant case the record fails to disclose knowing and intelligent waivers of the rights to be present, to confront witnesses, to be heard, or to participate in his own defense. Specifically, at the conclusion of direct examination by the State of the victim's daughter [Mr. Peede's stepdaughter], a bench conference occurred where the defense attorneys informed the judge that Mr. Peede did not want his stepdaughter cross-examined (R605). The defense attorneys concurred in the tactical decision not to cross-examine the witness, but the attorneys "told Mr. Peede as a matter of tactics, [that they would be] handling his defense, and [that they were] not going to be bound by his [Mr. Peede's] directions in all cases." (R605-606).

The State next called and examined the victim's other daughter (R607-618), and the defense again declined crossexamination (R618). The State thereafter called Mr. Peede's ex-wife and examined her (R620-631). When crossexamination commenced, Mr. Peede respectfully objected, stating "Your Honor, I want it to be in the record I do not want this witness cross-examined." (R631). After eight questions had been asked on cross-examination by the defense attorney, the following occurred:

- 11 -

Mr. Peede: Your Honor, excuse me. Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I apologize. I apologize for what I'm saying or interrupting the Court. I don't want the witness cross-examined. Going against my, what I need or what I want. And the people are not representing, they're not doing anything I want them to do. They're going against everything that I want done. I don't want this woman cross-examined.

(Whereupon, the defendant, Robert Ira Peede, was escorted out of the courtroom, and the following proceedings were had out of his presence).

The Court: Wish to proceed?

Ms. Sedgwick [the prosecutor]: Your Honor, could we approach the bench?

The Court: Later.

Mr. Durocher [defense counsel]: We'd probably like the record to reflect Mr. Peede is no longer present in the courtroom.

The Court: Record should reflect because of his disruptions or interruptions of the procedures, he has been taken out of the courtroom.

(R632-633).

Thus, without warning, admonition or inquiry of the defendant, Mr. Peede was "escorted out of the courtroom" while examination of his ex-wife continued in his absence. Clearly no knowing, voluntary, or intelligent waiver of the right to be present transpired because of Mr. Peede's vocal but respectful dissention about the course of representation by his attorneys. Rather than proceed with the reception of evidence, the judge should have excused the jury and inquired whether Mr. Peede was so dissatisfied with the tactics of his appointed counsel that he would rather represent himself. A defendant must be entitled to some say-so in his own defense. cf. <u>Faretta v.</u> <u>California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 45 L.Ed.2d 462, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975). <u>See Point II, infra</u>. Mr. Peede, if he continued to desire representation, could have then been admonished to conduct himself properly or suffer the consequences. cf. <u>Jones v.</u> <u>State</u>, <u>So.2d</u> (Fla. March 29, 1984) [9 FLW 113].

Assuming but not conceding that a defendant's attendance in a capital trial can ever be excused by the trial judge, the court could then either have obtained a waiver of Mr. Peede's presence <u>after an adequate inquiry</u> or have required his attendance at trial, bound and gagged if necessary to avoid interference with the presentation of evidence. cf. <u>Illinois v.</u> <u>Allen</u>, 397 U.S. 337, 25 L.Ed.2d 353, 90 S.Ct. 1057 (1970). Simply said, the Court did not have the discretion to evict the defendant without warning from his own capital trial for such a trivial and respectful violation of courtroom decorum.

The error thereafter compounded. Mr. Peede was returned to the courtroom at the beginning of the next witness' testimony and Mr. Peede attended without incident. When the Court recessed for lunch, Mr. Peede informed the Court that he felt ill (R 662-663). When Court reconvened at 1:35 p.m., the defense attorneys notified the Judge that Mr. Peede did not wish to attend the trial further that afternoon based partially upon illness and partially because the defense attorneys were not conducting his defense as desired (R 663-665).

The Assistant State Attorneys, the defense attorneys, the trial judge and the court reporter then went to the jail to talk to Mr. Peede (R 669). The proceedings were conducted in Warden Brookfield's office, which is a part of the jail (R 673), and the entire colloguy is set forth in pages 1-19 of the appendix to this brief for the convenience of this court. Significantly, Judge Cycmanick did not inform Mr. Peede of the specific rights that were being relinguished. Rather, Mr. Peede merely acknowledged that he understood that the trial would continue in his absence (R 669-670, 672; A 9-10, 12), and stated that "they've [the defense attorneys] started the trial, they should finish it." (R 673; A 13). No further personal inquiry of the defendant was made by the Court. Defense counsel stated that he would check with Mr. Peede that evening after court adjourned (R 757). The next morning the defense attorney informed the Court that Mr. Peede's position remained the same (R 765).

The State presented the testimony of five more witnesses, and the State rested. After the Motion for Judgment of Acquittal had been denied, defense counsel stated that he had recently conferred with Mr. Peede and that Mr. Peede renewed his previous statements about not being interested in hearing about the case or participating in the proceedings. (R 846). Thereafter, closing arguments [limited to thirty minutes] and jury instructions occurred, all in the absence of Mr. Peede (R 859-892, 892-910), and the jury returned a verdict of guilty of first degree murder, <u>also</u> in the absence of Mr. Peede

- 14 -

(R912-916). The undersigned counsel strongly submits that there exists in the instant case <u>no</u> knowing, voluntary, or intelligent waivers of the right to be present, to confront witnesses, to present evidence in one's own behalf, to be present when the verdict is delivered and to observe the polling of the jury, or to participate in your own defense.^{3/} The State is sincerely challenged to direct this Court's attention to anything that would constitute an adequate waiver of these constitutional rights in the context of a death case.

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