IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT IRA PEEDE,)	
Appellant,)	
vs.)	CASE NO. 65,318
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
Appellee.)	
)	FILED SID J. WHITE OCT 32 1984

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SEAN DALY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Ave., 4th Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-1067

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

11 }

B

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

Pages

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS ----- 1
ARGUMENTS:

POINT I

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

- 11 -

POINT II

THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE ANY REVERSIBLE ERROR ARISING FROM REPRE-SENTATION BY COURT-APPOINTED COUNSEL AT TRIAL WHERE THE APPELLANT FAILED TO UN-EQUIVOCALLY REJECT APPOINTED COUNSEL AND IN FACT WAIVED HIS RIGHT OF SELF-REPRESEN-TATION.

ARGUMENT

The Appellant apparently asserts that his first degree murder conviction should be vacated because he was not afforded the right to represent himself at trial as contemplated by <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975). The State submits however that the Appellant has failed to demonstrate an <u>unequivocal</u>, voluntary, and intelligent election to exercise his right of self-representation and to discharge his appointed counsel for purposes of his trial such that no error justifying reversal of his conviction has been established.

Although Peede's appointed assistant public defender did file a "Motion to Withdraw" wherein he asserted that the Appellant desired to represent himself <u>at trial</u> (R 1039), it is clear that at the hearing on that motion held August 1, 1983, Peede's request to represent himself arose not from any apparent wish to conduct the entire trial in any particular manner but rather from a dispute with his counsel as to whether they should seek a continuance in this case so as to obtain psychiatric examinations of him and to interview a number of witnesses residing in other southern states necessary to prepare for trial (R 1430-1431, 1437-1438). Peede's appointed counsel was clearly

- 12 -

of the opinion that this additional discovery, including the psychiatric examinations of the Appellant for the obvious purposes of evaluating a potential in sanity defense, as well as the interviewing of out-of-state witnesses, was necessary to develop a proper defense such that a continuance was needed; Peede, however, indicated that his "main objection" to his legal counsel was that he simply did not want a continuance because he wanted to "go forward" with his trial and "get it over with" (R 1437-1438). When questioned by the trial judge as to his legal training or his ability to contact the witnesses involved in the case so as to prepare his own defense, Peede stated that he had no previous legal training, that he had never before been in trial, and that his knowledge of trial proceedings was limited to that which he had picked up on television (R 1432-1436). The Appellant further noted that he did not even know many of the witnesses involved in this case nor how to contact them (R 1432-1433). The trial court judge then further questioned the Appellant as to his previous involvement in legal proceedings and his history of mental illness or mental disorder, and Peede noted that his legal experience was limited to one previous plea bargain in California some five years before and explained that, while he had never seen a psychiatrist, he had apparently seen "counselors" (R 1434-1435).

After conducting his inquiry of the Appellant, the trial judge reached the conclusion that Peede, acting as his own counsel, would not be able to "secure a fair trial at all if [he] went on [his] own, at least at this point in time", and he therefore denied appointed counsel's motion to withdraw while at the same time granting the motion for psychological or

- 13 -

psychiatric examination, indicating that the necessary motion for continuance would also be granted (R 1439). In reaching this conclusion, the trial judge noted that although the Appellant had the greatest interest in the disposition of his case he did not feel that he had the capability of preparing for and conducting a defense in the time frame at issue. Id. It is clear from the trial judge's explanation to the Appellant that he was convinced that, inasmuch as Peede's "main objection" to the assistance of counsel was the continuance sought, no true, unequivocal waiver had taken place since in order to prepare a "sufficient defense under the time limitation that we have got right now", the continuance was clearly warranted (R 1438). Obviously, the trial judge was of the impression that Peede did not really wish to conduct his own defense, i.e., to waive his right to the assistance of counsel, but rather that the Appellant had simply voiced a strategical dispute with his counsel over the continuance motion such that no unequivocal rejection of counsel was proven. Indeed, it is clear that Peede's effort to go to trial and "get it over with" would have been legal suicide in that no time would be left to contact, let alone interview, witnesses, and when no psychiatric evaluation could be completed before the trial scheduled only weeks from that point in time.

The trial judge properly refused to allow Peede's apparently half-hearted "suicide" effort and, because of the peculiar circumstances of this case, correctly held that Peede's effort at self-representation would fail to "secure a fair trial" at that point in time. No basis for reversal has been demonstrated. Indeed, the State notes that during the preliminary phases of

- 14 -

the trial prior to the jury <u>voir dire</u> and the taking of testimony the trial court specifically questioned the Appellant as to whether he wished to be represented by his appointed counsel at those proceedings to which he replied affirmatively, to wit:

> MS. SEDGWICK: [prosecutor] Your Honor, I just wanted to put something on the record at this point.

Mr. DuRocher and Mr. Bronson are representing the defendant, Robert Ira Peede. And they're preparing to assist him in doing the voir dire of the jury.

I wanted the Court to inquire as to whether that is the defendant's desire to have them represent him in the trial.

THE COURT: Mr. Peede, Mr. Bronson and Mr. DuRocher have been appointed by the Court to represent you and are available to represent you in these proceedings because of your inability to hire your own attorney.

Is it your desire for them to represent you and assist you in connection with this case?

MR. PEEDE: Yes, sir.

(R 37-38)

Thus, prior to trial the Appellant made it clear that he <u>did not</u> wish to represent himself which was clear evidence that Peede's previous self-representation request was not an <u>unequivocal one</u> as apparently surmised by the trial court. Indeed, it has been noted that a trial court should not quickly infer that a defendant unskilled in the law has waived counsel and opted to conduct his own defense; rather, the trial judge is under a duty to evaluate the circumstances of the request to determine that it is an unequivocal one - a valid concern given the magnitude of the constitutional right involved (to representation of effective counsel) and the danger to the defendant of inadequate representation. <u>See</u>, <u>Brown v. Wainwright</u>, 665 F.2d 607 (5th Cir. 1982); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 427 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); <u>Parker v. State</u>, 423 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Here, it is clear that Peede's self-representation request was not an unequivocal one as evinced by his clear request that appointed counsel assist him at trial.

In addition, Peede's unequivocal pre-trial request for and acceptance of the assistance of his appointed counsel constitutes an obvious waiver and abandonment of his previous half-hearted assertion of his right of self-representation. <u>Brown v. Wainwright</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Peede's waiver of his self-representation right and his acceptance of appointed counsel continued throughout trial as evinced by the total lack of any unequivocal reassertion of his right to self-representation through a request that his counsel be discharged. Indeed, although Peede placed certain disagreements with counsel on the record (which disagreements once again apparently stemmed from the fact that defense counsel was doing more to defend Peede than he wished done), he nevertheless made clear his desire that his appointed counsel continue to represent him during the trial (R 672-673). A review of the record reveals that the Appellant's disagreements with counsel over trial strategy centered upon his wish that certain witnesses, who had provided damaging testimony against him, not be cross-examined (R 605-606, 632-633). One of those witnesses was not cross-examined as defense counsel noted that it was not technically necessary to do so (R 605); however, defense counsel did engage in a very short cross-examination of the other witness - Geraldine Peede - in an obvious attempt to impeach her

- 16 -

by showing her potential ill will toward the Appellant (R 632-635). The State submits that the strategical decisions made by defense counsel that Peede himself had specifically requested represent him at trial do not mandate reversal in this case given the absence of any attempt to unequivocally reassert his right of self-representation and Peede's later reassertion of his wish that his appointed counsel continue to represent him during the trial (R 37-38, 672-673).

Finally, the State submits that any error asserted by the Appellant must be considered harmless when the entire trial transcript and the overwhelming nature of the evidence of Appellant's guilt is considered. It is clear that what conflicts there were between Peede and his counsel were the apparent result of Peede's efforts to undermine his only viable defenses. Obviously, as counsel properly determined, the impeachment of certain witnesses who presented very damaging testimony against Peede was a necessary tactical decision, and Peede's apparent effort to spare the witnesses the rigors of cross-examination would not in any way have aided his defense. His course of conduct in undermining the only apparent avenues of defense available to him was best evidenced by Peede's withdrawal of a suppression motion filed by his counsel addressed to his pretrial confession (R 321-327). Those confessions, when combined with the physical evidence adduced at trial as well as the other testimony admitted, presented overwhelming evidence of the Appellant's guilt of the first degree murder for which he was charged such that any claim of reversible error because of certain conflicts between the Appellant and the trial counsel whose assistance he requested is unsupported. See, Drake v. State, 441

- 17 -

So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1983); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 332 So.2d 615 (Fla. 1976); § 924.33, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1983).

POINT III

THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMON-STRATE ANY ABUSE OF DISCRETION OR IMPROPER LIMITATION BY THE TRIAL COURT JUDGE IN ALLOWING TIME FOR CLOSING ARGUMENT; THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE THIS ISSUE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

ARGUMENT

The Appellant's assertion of a "severe time limitation on closing argument" by the trial judge presents no basis for reversal in that that specific issue has not been preserved for appellate review by proper contemporaneous objection or motion and is clearly factually unsupported by the appellate record.

The record reveals that at the end of testimony in the case the trial judge <u>suggested</u> that the closing argument time could be set at thirty (30) minutes per side and then specifically noted that he had "never cut anyone off." Defense counsel responded by noting that he did not expect his argument to go "for an hour or anything like that . . ." and at that point raised no specific objection to the time period suggested by the trial court judge nor did he suggest that more time was needed or make a specific request for more argument time. Furthermore, the transcript of defense counsel's closing argument contains <u>absolutely no suggestion</u> that it was cut short or limited in length in any way by the trial court judge. The fact that Peede's trial counsel perceived no improper and actual limitation on his closing argument and felt that his client suffered no prejudice from the trial court's suggestion is best evinced

- 19 -

by the total lack of any objection/argument on this point addressed to the trial court either before <u>or after</u> closing argument. For example, Peede's new trial motion (filed by his trial counsel) alleges no impropriety based on any limitation of closing argument theory (R 1253-1254). Further, Peede's trial counsel clearly felt it unnecessary to list any claim of improper closing argument limitation in the Statement of Judicial Acts to be Reviewed which he prepared for appellate review purposes (R 1418-1419).

The State submits that the Appellant's failure to raise any objection or motion whatsoever challenging what he now - for the first time on appeal - terms an improper limitation on closing argument at the trial court level so as to allow the trial court to consider and determine the question presented and if necessary correct the putative error (by extending argument time if counsel felt necessary) necessarily precludes appellate review of this issue. See, Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982); Williams v. State, 414 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1982); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Obviously, Peede's trial counsel did not perceive the same "severe time limitation on closing argument" which the Appellant now for the first time feels to have been so prejudicial. Indeed, unlike defense counsel in the cases cited by the Appellant in support of his argument, Peede's trial counsel clearly demonstrated no inability to say whatever he had to say in the time provided. The Appellant fails to present any specific assertion as to argument that he would have presented but for the "limitation" imposed by the trial judge. Certainly, the Appellant's failure

- 20 -

to even speculate, let alone establish based on record evidence, that the perceived limitation was in any way specifically detrimental to his case clearly fails to meet his burden of proof of making an affirmative showing of such detriment in order to justify relief. <u>See</u>, <u>McDuffee v. State</u>, 55 Fla. 125, 46 So. 721 (1908).

Unlike the cases relied upon by the Appellant, no objection, exception, or motion addressed to the time period for closing argument suggested by the trial judge or <u>request</u> <u>for additional time</u> was ever raised by Peede's trial counsel in this case. <u>See, May v. State</u>, 89 Fla. 78, 103 So. 115 (1925); <u>Neal v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). There is therefore no basis for a determination by this tribunal that the trial judge abused his clear discretion in suggesting what was, based on the facts and circumstances of this case, a reasonable time for closing argument, especially where as here defense counsel voiced no objection, made no request for additional time, and completed his closing argument without interference from the trial judge.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING THE TESTI-MONY AT ISSUE; AND, ALTERNATIVELY, THE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMON-STRATE REVERSIBLE ERROR AND HAS IN FACT FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW CERTAIN STATEMENTS NOT CHAL-LENGED AS IMPROPERLY ADMITTED HEARSAY.

ARGUMENT

Appellant challenges four statements made by the victim's daughter in her testimony at trial as improperly admitted hearsay testimony (AB 24). However, the State initially notes that two of those statements were in fact given at trial <u>without</u> any hearsay objection by the Appellant, to wit:

> Q. [by Mr. Reis - Prosecutor] Did she indicate she was going anywhere other than the airport?

MR. DuROCHER [defense attorney]: Object, leading.

THE COURT: Overruled.

A. [Tanya Dee Bullis - daughter of victim] She said that she was going to pick him up. If she wasn't back by midnight to call the police, she said she may have been forced into the car. She was afraid of being taken to North Carolina.

Q. [by Mr. Reis - Prosecutor] Did she say whey she was afraid?

A. She was afriad of being put with the other people he had threatened to kill. And he'd kill them all on Easter.

(R 599-600)

Given the lack of any specific hearsay objection to the portion of the testimony by the victim's daughter that her mother had instructed her to call the police if she did not return from the airport by midnight and her mother's statement that the Appellant had threatened to kill others in North Carolina on Easter, the issue now raised by the Appellant with reference to those statements has clearly not been preserved for appellate review. Indeed, it is well established that this Court will not consider initially on appeal matters which have never been presented to nor ruled upon by the trial judge. <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1982); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

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